The Senate

Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs

Migration Amendment (Sponsorship Obligations) Bill 2007 [Provisions]



MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Guy Barnett, **Chair**, LP, TAS Senator Patricia Crossin, **Deputy Chair**, ALP, NT Senator Andrew Bartlett, AD, QLD Senator Marise Payne, LP, NSW Senator Stephen Parry, LP, TAS Senator Linda Kirk, ALP, SA Senator Joe Ludwig, ALP, QLD Senator Russell Trood, LP, QLD

Secretariat

Ms Jackie Morris Secretary

Mr Andrew Bomm Senior Research Officer
Ms Judith Wuest Executive Assistant

Suite S1. 61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560
Parliament House Fax: (02) 6277 5794
CANBERRA ACT 2600 Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Membership of Committee	iii
Recommendations	vii
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	
Purpose of the bill	1
Background	1
Conduct of the Inquiry	2
Acknowledgement	2
Note on references	2
Chapter 2	3
Overview of the bill	
Sponsor obligations	3
Investigative powers	5
Penalties	5
Chapter 3	7
Issues raised during the inquiry	
Proportionality of the proposed measures	7
Minimum salary levels	7
Meeting prescribed costs	8
Application to existing arrangements	12
Obligation to provide information	12
Committee view	13
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN LABOR PARTY	17
THE HOUSE MANNEY BUILDON I MAN I	1,
APPENDIX 1 SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED	19

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1

3.36 The committee recommends that the government investigates the potential for sponsors to be liable for unreasonable or unspecified charges by migration or recruitment agents and, if necessary, amend proposed section 140IG to provide employers with a right to challenge unreasonable costs.

Recommendation 2

3.39 The committee recommends that proposed subsection 140IK(3) and proposed paragraph 140ZJ(2)(c) be amended to provide that sponsoring employers will have a minimum of 14 days within which to respond to a written request for information or documents.

Recommendation 3

3.40 The committee also recommends that DIAC establishes guidelines in relation to the exercise of the powers in proposed sections 140IK and 140ZJ including a requirement that notices under these sections clearly state the consequences of non-compliance.

Recommendation 4

3.41 Subject to the preceding recommendations, the committee recommends that the Bill be passed.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Purpose of the Bill

- 1.1 On 21 June 2007 the Selection of Bills Committee referred the provisions of the Migration Amendment (Sponsorship Obligations) Bill 2007 (the Bill) to the Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, for inquiry and report by 30 July 2007.
- 1.2 The purpose of the Bill is to amend the *Migration Act 1958* to:
 - impose more stringent legislative obligations on employers sponsoring workers on 457 visas;
 - provide the Department of Immigration and Citizenship (DIAC) with greater investigative powers; and
 - attach civil penalties for breaches of employer obligations.

Background

- 1.3 The subclass 457 visa is a temporary business entry visa that enables employers in industries affected by domestic skills shortages to sponsor skilled overseas workers. It is only available to employers seeking to sponsor oversees workers with recognised skills in designated professions. Workers entering Australia under a 457 visa are entitled to bring family members, known as secondary visa holders.¹
- 1.4 In 2005-06, 71,749 subclass 457 visas were granted, while for the first three quarters of 2006-07 a further 64,459 were granted. At 31 March 2007 the total number of 457 visa holders was 101,608, compared with 79,707 at the corresponding period in 2006.²
- 1.5 The Bill has been introduced following COAG's referral of the issue of the integrity and effectiveness of 457 arrangements to the Ministerial Council on Immigration and Multicultural Affairs. A COAG communiqué dated 14 July 2006 stated:

Phillips, J. *Research Note no. 15 2006-07*, 'Temporary (long stay) business visas: subclass 457', 21 February 2007.

Department of Immigration and Citizenship, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2007, pp. 51-52. These figures include primary and secondary visa holders.

COAG has asked the Ministerial Council on Immigration and Multicultural Affairs (MCIMA) to identify and implement cooperative measures to ensure the effectiveness, fairness and integrity of the temporary skilled migration arrangements, including appropriate and consistent minimum standards. COAG has also requested that MCIMA provide a progress report on these measures to COAG in December 2006.³

1.6 The Bill attempts to ensure the integrity of the 457 visa system by attaching more stringent obligations to the use of 457 visas and increasing the penalties for abusing the system. The Minister for Immigration and Citizenship, the Hon. Kevin Andrews, told the parliament:

...there is a small minority of employers who have sought to abuse the programme. While abuse is not widespread, it can undermine the integrity of the overall migration programme and confidence in the programme as a factor in maintaining our national prosperity into the future. Employers must recognise that access to skilled temporary overseas workers is a privilege, not a right, and if they abuse this privilege, then they will face strong penalties.⁴

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.7 The committee advertised the inquiry in *The Australian* newspaper on 27 June and 11 July 2007. Details of the inquiry, the Bill and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also wrote to 30 organisations and individuals.
- 1.8 The committee received seven submissions, which are listed at Appendix 1. The committee did not hold a public hearing for this inquiry but clarified a number of issues with DIAC through written questions.

Acknowledgement

1.9 The committee thanks those organisations and individuals who made submissions.

Note on references

1.10 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume.

³ Commonwealth submission to the Joint Standing Committee on Migration inquiry into Eligibility requirements and monitoring, enforcement and reporting arrangements for temporary business visas, February 2007, Attachment A.

⁴ The Hon. Kevin Andrews, Minister for Immigration and Citizenship, Second Reading Speech, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 21 June 2007.

Chapter 2

Overview of the Bill

2.1 This chapter briefly outlines the main provisions of the Bill.

Sponsor obligations

- 2.2 In accordance with regulations made under section 140H of the Migration Act, employers must currently agree to certain undertakings to be granted approval to sponsor a person under the 457 visa regime. These include many, but not all, of the obligations proposed to be incorporated into new Subdivision BB of the Migration Act. Sponsors who do not comply with the existing undertakings may be barred from sponsoring employees under the scheme for a specified period.
- 2.3 The sponsorship obligations proposed to be included in the Migration Act are described below. Proposed new civil penalties for non-compliance with these obligations are outlined below at paragraphs 2.14 2.18.

Minimum salary levels

2.4 Proposed paragraph 140IC(1)(a) provides that workers on 457 visas must be paid a minimum salary subject to determination of the Minister by legislative instrument. Under proposed paragraph 140IC(1)(b) this must be paid either when the visa holder begins working or 28 days after the visa holder enters Australia, whichever occurs first. If the visa holder is in Australia when the visa is granted payment must commence from the earlier of the date of commencement or 28 days after the visa is granted.³ In his second reading speech the Minister stated:

This obligation ... acknowledges the fact that Australian employers must look first to employing and training Australians and that the Subclass 457 visa programme will not be used to erode the salaries and conditions of Australian employees.⁴

Employment in the nominated or higher skill level activity

2.5 Proposed section 140ID provides that sponsors must not employ 457 visa holders in a lower skill level activity than that which formed the basis for granting of the visa. Visa holders may be moved to a different activity, but it must be of the same

¹ Migration Regulations 1994, regulation 1.20CB.

DIAC website, http://www.immi.gov.au/skilled/skilled-workers/sbs/obligations-sponsor.htm, (accessed 6 July 2007).

³ *EM*, Item 7.

⁴ The Hon. Kevin Andrews, Minister for Immigration and Citizenship, Second Reading Speech, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 21 June 2007.

or higher skill level than that originally proposed.⁵ In his second reading speech the Minister stated:

This protects against the Subclass 457 visa programme being used to bring overseas workers to Australia to carry out unskilled jobs.

Travel costs

2.6 Proposed subsections 140IE(1) and (2) provide that approved sponsors are obliged to meet the return travel costs of the primary, and any secondary, visa holders. Under subsection 140IE(3), if a person changes sponsorship the last (most recent) approved sponsor is responsible for meeting his or her travel costs (and those of any secondary visa holder) back to the country whence they came.⁶

Medical costs

2.7 Proposed subsections 140IF(1) and (2) provide that approved sponsors are obliged to meet the prescribed medical costs of the primary, and any secondary, visa holders. Subsection 140IF(3) establishes what the regulations may specify with respect to the extent of a sponsor's obligation in this area. Instances where sponsors take out health insurance on behalf of sponsors, including the obligation to cover gap payments, are dealt with in subsection 140IF(5).

Other fees and costs

2.8 Proposed section 140G addresses additional costs to be paid by the sponsor. These include fees imposed under Commonwealth, State or Territory law, costs associated with the recruitment of the visa holder and migration agent costs.⁸

Record keeping

2.9 Proposed new section 140IH requires sponsors to keep certain records as prescribed by regulations. New section 140IK obliges sponsors to provide certain information when requested by the Secretary of DIAC.⁹

Meeting the costs of processing non-departure

2.10 Proposed section 140IJ provides that sponsors are obliged to meet expenses incurred by the Commonwealth in locating, detaining and removing 457 visa holders who have overstayed their visa. The Explanatory Memorandum (EM) states:

6 *EM*, Item 7.

⁵ *EM*, Item 7.

⁷ *EM*, Item 7.

⁸ *EM*, Item 7.

⁹ *EM*, Item 7.

This amendment ensures that the Australian community does not end up paying for the removal of a person who has come to Australia to undertake employment but rather the person responsible for bringing the person into Australia bears the cost. This is an incentive to employers wishing to sponsor persons to undertake employment activities in Australia on a temporary basis, to ensure that the persons they wish to sponsor genuinely intend skilled employment in Australia.¹⁰

Other obligations

2.11 Proposed section 140IL allows for further obligations on sponsors to be prescribed by regulation.

Investigative powers

- 2.12 Proposed paragraph 140ZJ(2)(a) authorises inspectors to 'enter, without force, a place of business or other place where he or she has reasonable cause to believe that there is information, documents or any other thing relevant to [determining compliance with sponsor obligations]'. Under paragraph 140ZJ(2)(b) this includes:
 - inspecting any work, material, appliance, article or facility;
 - interviewing any person;
 - requiring documents to be produced within a specified period; and
 - inspecting, copying or taking extracts from documents. 11
- 2.13 Failure to produce documents requested by an inspector is an offence attracting a maximum penalty of six months imprisonment under proposed section 140ZK.

Penalties

2.14 Proposed subsection 140SB(2) provides that breaches of sponsorship obligations are subject to civil penalties of up to 60 penalty units for an individual and 300 penalty units for a body corporate for each identified breach. For breaches prescribed in regulations under proposed section 140IL the maximum is 50 and 250 penalty units respectively.¹³

11 *EM*, Item 44.

12 *EM*, Item 44.

13 *EM*, Item 22.

¹⁰ *EM*, Item 7.

- 2.15 Proposed subsection 140SB(6) also allows an eligible court to order that restitution be paid where a sponsor owes a person or a government money pursuant to the sponsor's obligations.¹⁴
- 2.16 The EM outlines the justification for the use of civil penalty penalties instead of criminal sanctions as follows:

The justification for the use of civil penalties, as opposed to criminal sanctions, is that the imposition of criminal sanctions on sponsors could have harsh consequences on the sponsor such [as] a loss of their export licence (or any other licence for that matter), which would not be in Australia's best interest. The use of civil penalties is also considered appropriate for the enforcement scheme to be flexible and administratively manageable. The use of civil penalties will increase compliance with migration legislation (and other relevant laws), thereby preserving the integrity of the Australian labour market and improving the conditions of overseas workers. In addition, the justification for no fault civil penalty offences is to facilitate an infringement notices regime. ¹⁵

2.17 Proposed new paragraph 504(1)(jb) enables regulations to be made to establish an infringement notice regime as an alternative to civil proceedings. The EM states:

The purpose of this amendment is to set up a power to make regulations which provide a person who is alleged to have contravened a provision in or under Subdivision BB with an alternative to a civil penalty proceeding under section 140SB. The alternative is to pay to the Commonwealth, an amount not exceeding one-fifth of the maximum penalty that would have applied for contravention of the provision.¹⁶

2.18 Proposed subsection 140K(1A) allows the Minster to cancel sponsorship approval or bar a sponsor where the Minister reasonably believes an obligation has been breached. Subsection 140K(1B) also allows the Minister to bar a sponsor where the Minister reasonably believes that a Commonwealth, State or Territory law relevant to their status as a sponsor has been breached.¹⁷

15 *EM*, Item 7.

16 *EM*, Item 46.

17 *EM*, Item 10.

_

¹⁴ *EM*, Item 22.

Chapter 3

Issues raised during the inquiry

3.1 The main issue raised by submissions received by the committee related to the increased cost burden the Bill would impose on participating employers. The committee also received evidence that the proposed application of the laws to existing visa arrangements had an unfair retrospective effect and that the severity of the sanctions for non-compliance with a request for information necessitated that employers be granted more time to comply.

Proportionality of the proposed measures

3.2 Some business organisations expressed the view that the Bill represented a disproportionate and potentially detrimental response to a limited problem. For example, the Australian Contract Professions Management Association (ACPMA) noted:

Out of 15,000 business sponsorships approved between June 2006 and January this year, 20 employers have been banned or sanctioned from the 457 visa scheme, and 300 are under investigation. That's less than 0.2 percent of all approved sponsorships.¹

3.3 The Australian Industry Group (Ai Group) said:

...these cases of abuse are exceptions and do not justify making the system significantly more difficult to access for the vast majority of employers who fully comply with their legal obligations under the scheme.²

Minimum salary levels

- 3.4 The National Farmers' Federation (NFF) submitted that the minimum salary and conditions of workers employed under 457 arrangements should mirror those applied to Australian workers under the relevant industrial instrument.³
- 3.5 It also expressed concern that fringe benefits common to agricultural employment arrangements may not be taken into account when calculating minimum salaries under the proposed legislation.⁴ The NFF indicated a preference for the explicit recognition of this issue within the Bill:

The NFF acknowledges that the amendments may allow the Minister, via the legislative instrument, to allow for the inclusion of non-monetary

¹ ACPMA, Submission 7, p. 2.

² Ai Group, Submission 5, p. 1.

³ NFF, Submission 2, p. 1.

⁴ NFF, Submission 2, p. 2.

benefits in the method of calculating minimum salaries. However, the NFF would prefer that this matter be expressly confirmed within the legislation.⁵

- 3.6 ACPMA suggested that the Minister's ability to change, on an ad hoc basis, minimum salary levels for 457 visa holders would be detrimental to employers. It predicted that the uncertainty associated with the 'indeterminable' salary of 457 employees would lead companies to move work offshore at a fixed cost.⁶
- 3.7 ACPMA proposed the following:

ACPMA members respect minimum salary levels; however, any change to minimum wage levels should be effective from the date of, and for the term of the agreement and not applicable retrospectively.⁷

3.8 In response to a question on notice DIAC stated:

The subclause providing that the level of salary could be varied on one or more specified days or at the end of one or more specified periods would allow the Minister to specify within the Instrument a formula to regularly index the level of salary. This could include, for example, indexation of the level of salary by a specified percentage or amount on a particular day each year. This subclause could, for example, obviate the need for the Minister to re-make the Instrument from time-to-time to reflect general wage movements in the specified level of salary.⁸

Meeting prescribed costs

- 3.9 Most submissions were concerned about the imposition of new obligations to meet certain costs, and did not take issue with obligations proposed to be enacted that are already imposed by existing undertakings. The committee received submissions outlining concerns over the additional imposition of costs in the following areas:
 - health care;
 - travel costs;
 - migration agent costs; and
 - costs associated with non-departure.
- 3.10 The Association of Consulting Engineers Australia (ACEA) stated that forcing sponsors to meet these additional costs is inequitable:

6 ACPMA, Submission 7, p. 3.

7 ACPMA, Submission 7, p. 4.

8 DIAC, *Additional information*, Response to question on notice No. 3, Appendix 1.

⁵ NFF, Submission 2, p. 2.

If only large firms are able to invest in the skilled migrant program due to the need to meet and pay for all proposed conditions, the labour divide will increase. Only larger companies will be able to make use of the scheme which engages highly skilled migrants to complete tasks that Australia does not have the capacity to complete with Australian employees alone. If the amendments to the Sponsorship Obligations Bill are implemented, small and medium enterprises (SME's) will become so constrained by compliance costs that they will be essentially unable to utilise the scheme at all.⁹

Healthcare costs

3.11 The Ai Group highlighted the obligation on employers to meet employees' health care costs:

For sponsors this will be a significant cost. Products offered by the insurance industry for temporary foreign workers vary, but it is generally necessary to take out 'private' health insurance. This can range up to as much as \$3,000 a year for the principal insurance holder and additional costs for family members.

It should be noted that the obligation for the employer to cover health costs also extends to the visa holder's spouse and dependants. We understand that approximately half of all entrants under the 457 scheme are dependants.

3.12 It suggested:

We would strongly urge that the new Bill allow employers to require visa holders to pay their own health insurance costs providing the cost would not take the visa holders salary below the MSL.¹⁰

- 3.13 ACEA suggested that 457 visa holders should be entitled to the same level of public heath care as Australian citizens a consequence of paying taxes and they should meet their own private health care costs.¹¹
- 3.14 ACPMA also argued that this obligation would lead to discriminatory outcomes:

[Section] 140IF discriminates against Australian workers by affording rights to their 457 visa holding peers that are denied to them. It also encourages anti-family discrimination to reduce the total cost of employment of 457 visa holders. 12

10 Ai Group, Submission 5, p. 6.

11 ACEA, Submission 3, p. 4.

12 ACPMA, Submission 7, p. 6.

-

⁹ ACEA, Submission 3, p. 3.

- 3.15 It too recommended that 457 visa holders pay for their own private health insurance and out-of-pocket medical expenses.¹³
- 3.16 The Department of Immigration and Citizenship (DIAC) informed the committee that this obligation would mirror what is already required:

It intended that the scope of prescribed medical costs be no wider than what is currently required by the existing undertaking. The Department does not intend to prescribe a monetary limit at this stage.¹⁴

Travel costs

3.17 Ai Group also criticised the proposed new travel cost requirement:

For many companies this will be a new expense as the current practice is in many cases for the visa holder to cover their own return airfares.

While this may not seem significant on an individual basis, it will be a major new expense for labour hire companies and other large scale sponsors who are responsible for many hundreds of visa holders.

We believe it is reasonable for visa holders who have worked in Australia in many cases for up to four years to pay for their own travel costs. 15

Migration agent costs

3.18 The Law Institute of Victoria claimed that the requirement for sponsors to meet the costs of migration agents would unnecessarily inhibit employers from utilising the scheme:

It is common for people in Australia on working holiday visas or visitor visas to negotiate an offer of employment with employers on the basis that they will be responsible for the costs of engaging professional assistance in relation to the application. Employers who are unfamiliar with the sponsorship process might be reluctant to make an employment offer if they are faced with having to pay professional costs associated with the application. In contrast, the visa applicants have often investigated the issues, obtained a quote for the costs, and are prepared to take on the liability to pay professional and other costs in order to make the decision as easy as possible for the employer. It is unnecessary to prohibit this type of activity with the amendment proposed. ¹⁶

3.19 Ai Group commented that the intended scope of this provision is unclear:

It is unclear the extent to which this obligation extends to migration agents fees paid by the visa holder. It is often current practice for sponsors to pay

14 DIAC, *Additional information*, Response to question on notice No. 6, Appendix 1.

¹³ ACPMA, Submission 7, p. 6.

¹⁵ Ai Group, Submission 5, pp. 6-7. See also ACPMA, Submission 7, pp 4-5.

¹⁶ Law Institute of Victoria, Submission 4, p. 2.

migration agents in many cases to identify applicants and process their visas. Costs vary widely but it is commonly in the order of \$2,500 per applicant but can be more. In some countries, however, individual applicants separately pay their own agent's fees prior to becoming involved with an Australian company's agent. Also, in countries such as the Philippines, visa fees can be based on the applicant paying the local government a levy of a month's salary. Australian sponsors should not be liable for charges outside the direct migration agent's fees of the agent they engage.¹⁷

3.20 Cloither Anderson and Associates were concerned that the obligation to pay the fees charged by migration agents could have unforseen consequences:

It ushers in a new set of "Cowboy" rules placing arbitrary requirements on third parties (backed by serious civil sanctions) to pay an immigration lawyer's fees when that lawyer may not even act for the party forced to pay his/her bill.

For example, if the lawyer has overcharged for his/her services or hasn't provided an itemised bill, will this third party (the employer) be allowed any of the rights of a "client" in a solicitor/client relationship – to be able to demand an itemised bill or to otherwise challenge the costs charged and/or paid? Such rights are not contemplated by the Bill at all. 18

3.21 In response to a question on notice, DIAC indicated that:

It is intended that this section would apply to fees charged by a foreign recruitment company. The Bill does not prohibit a visa being granted where fees are charged to a visa applicant by a foreign recruitment agency. However, the Bill makes employers rather than employees liable for those fees. In practice, we would intend that employers be liable for such costs where they are aware or ought reasonably to have been aware of them.¹⁹

3.22 ACPMA suggested that the costs to employers of meeting this obligation may deny visa holders access to legal support. It recommended allowing '457 visa holders to seek and pay for professional migration and legal advice'.²⁰

Non-departure costs

3.23 With respect to non-departure costs, ACEA argued that sponsoring employees should not be held responsible for meeting the costs of the government's imperfect approval processes or the rogue actions of employees once they have ceased employment with their sponsor.²¹

18 Cloither Anderson and Associates, *Submission* 6, p. 2.

_

¹⁷ Ai Group, Submission 5, p. 7.

¹⁹ DIAC, Additional information, Response to question on notice No. 5, Appendix 1.

²⁰ ACPMA, Submission 7, p. 7.

²¹ ACEA, Submission 3, p. 5

3.24 DIAC clarified for the committee that it intended to prescribe a more widely applied \$10,000 limit in respect of these costs:

The existing undertaking limits the costs to \$10,000 in respect of location and detention. There is currently no limit as to the costs of removing the sponsored person or processing an application for a protection visa made by the sponsored person. The Department intends to prescribe a limit of \$10,000 in respect of the costs set out in paragraph 140IJ(2)(a) and a limit of \$10,000 in respect of the costs set out in paragraph 140IJ(2)(b).²²

Application to existing arrangements

3.25 Ai Group expressed concern that the application of the proposed measures to existing 457 visa holders would have a retrospective and detrimental effect on sponsors:

This apparent retrospectivity is a major concern. Employers could potentially have hundreds of existing visa holders for whom the new obligations will apply. Labour hire companies, for example, will have entered into contracts to supply employees on 457 visas under existing arrangements and the changes will introduce a major unbudgeted expense. One large labour hire company, which is a member of Ai Group, estimates that if the changes are applied to existing visa holders it would potentially cost the company in excess of \$2 million.²³

3.26 It suggested that the legislation, if passed, should only apply to arrangements entered into after the laws have come into effect.²⁴

Obligation to provide information

3.27 While recognising the appropriateness of the requirement to provide information requested by the Secretary, ACEA suggested that the government should allow more time for compliance and provide adequate warning of the consequences of non-compliance:

ACEA views the obligation for employers to provide information when requested in writing to be feasible. ACEA believes that the Government's obligation in this instance should extend to explaining that between 60 and 300 penalty units apply if the information is not provided and that this should be noted clearly within the correspondence. ACEA would also recommend that a reasonable time period for response from the employer is 21 days.²⁵

24 Ai Group, Submission 5, p. 8.

²² DIAC, Additional information, Response to question on notice No. 7, Appendix 1.

²³ Ai Group, Submission 5, p. 8.

²⁵ ACEA, Submission 3, p. 5.

Committee view

- 3.28 The committee considers that the Bill represents a justifiable measure to better ensure the integrity of the 457 visa system. The obligations contained in the Bill are generally aimed at reflecting, in legislation, the existing undertakings that must be observed by sponsors employing workers under the 457 visa scheme. The Bill further aims to ensure that these obligations are met without being circumvented by employers undermining stipulated minimum salary levels by passing on costs to employees. The committee supports both these objectives.
- 3.29 The committee also notes that providing departmental officers with greater investigative powers and attaching stronger penalties for non-compliance with sponsorship obligations were not matters of dispute during the inquiry.
- 3.30 The committee has examined the specific concerns raised during the inquiry below. These generally relate to the obligations on sponsors proposed to be enacted with the passage of this Bill.

Setting minimum salary levels

3.31 The committee notes concerns over the ministerial discretion to alter minimum salary levels, but accepts the department's stated intention to implement a consistent indexation formula to determine minimum salary levels.

Prescribed costs

- 3.32 The committee rejects the argument that the prescribed costs contained in the Bill are an unreasonable requirement for sponsoring employers. The purpose of the 457 visa scheme is to alleviate skills shortages in industries where domestic workers with the required skills are in scarce supply, rather than to address labour shortages for unskilled jobs or to provide a supply of inexpensive labour. Where costs such as health insurance and return travel provide a direct benefit to the employee, sponsors paying above the minimum wage will inevitably factor those additional costs in to the visa holders' agreed salary. Arguably only employers that intend to pay the minimum wage allowed under the scheme and to offset other employment costs against the employee's salary will be affected by the new requirements. Given the purpose of the scheme does not include providing employers with a source of cheap overseas labour, the committee holds the view that the criticism of the costs imposed by the Bill is not well founded.
- 3.33 On the specific matter of providing for the healthcare of 457 visa holders, the committee rejects the notion that the Bill imposes a new or unreasonable cost on sponsors. Regulations already require public health costs to be met by sponsoring employers, either directly or via insurance. Furthermore, the practice of sponsors taking out health insurance to meet their obligation under the Bill will not provide 457 visa holders with additional, greater, health care benefits than domestic workers, as domestic workers are already entitled to the free public health care available through Medicare and the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme.

- 3.34 Nonetheless, given the apparent confusion amongst stakeholders regarding the extent this Bill will alter the obligations on sponsoring employers, the committee is of the view that it would be appropriate for DIAC to engage further with sponsors and peak bodies to better explain the intended effect of the Bill.
- 3.35 Finally, the committee is sympathetic to concerns over sponsors being billed as a third party for migration or recruitment agent services rendered to visa holders. The committee is alert to the possibility that sponsors could be liable for charges stemming from unreasonable billing practices, without adequate recourse to challenge the nature or extent of the charges. The committee is therefore of the view that the government should further investigate this issue to ensure sponsors are not liable for extortionate fees.

Recommendation 1

3.36 The committee recommends that the government investigates the potential for sponsors to be liable for unreasonable or unspecified charges by migration or recruitment agents and, if necessary, amend proposed section 140IG to provide employers with a right to challenge unreasonable costs.

Retrospectivity

3.37 The committee supports the government's attempt to prevent employers undermining minimum salary levels by deducting health care costs, travel costs and other prescribed costs from employee salaries. Although a retrospective application of laws is generally undesirable, the length of time current 457 visas may run makes it impractical to apply the law only to those visas granted since the introduction of the Bill, or some later date. The committee is therefore of the view that the legislation, if passed, should apply to all existing and future 457 visa sponsorship arrangements.

Obligation to provide further information

- 3.38 The committee also recognises that the serious consequences of non-compliance with a request to provide information warrant consideration of ACEA's recommendations. Namely, that:
- employers be allowed more than 7 days to comply with such a request; and
- notices requesting information adequately explain the consequences of noncompliance.

Recommendation 2

3.39 The committee recommends that proposed subsection 140IK(3) and proposed paragraph 140ZJ(2)(c) be amended to provide that sponsoring employers will have a minimum of 14 days within which to respond to a written request for information or documents.

Recommendation 3

3.40 The committee also recommends that DIAC establishes guidelines in relation to the exercise of the powers in proposed sections 140IK and 140ZJ including a requirement that notices under these sections clearly state the consequences of non-compliance.

Recommendation 4

3.41 Subject to the preceding recommendations, the committee recommends that the Bill be passed.

Senator Guy Barnett Chair

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN LABOR PARTY

- 1.1 Labor supports the committee's recommendations. However, unfortunately the Bill does not ultimately prevent the continued abuse of the 457 temporary work visa to undercut Australian wages and conditions.
- 1.2 Labor does not support the use of temporary skilled migration to drive down wages and conditions. Unfortunately this Bill has not addressed the issue of 457 temporary work visas being used as a source of cheaper labour rather than as measure to address a skills shortage.
- 1.3 Labor notes that the National Farmers' Federation (NFF), in its submission to the committee, stated that 'the current minimum salary is not representative of market rates in agriculture'.¹
- 1.4 Labor believes 457 visa holders should be paid the going local market rate of pay, while maintaining the Minimum Salary Level (MSL) as a base salary for temporary work visa holders.
- 1.5 Temporary skilled migrant workers are entitled to the effective market rate of pay based on the principle of equal pay for equal work. An assessment of the effective rate of pay would guarantee that salaries are not effectively undermined through a system of deductions.
- 1.6 The Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill notes that proposed paragraph 140IC(1)(b):

...provides that the approved sponsor must pay the sponsored visa holder in the manner specified in the legislative instrument referred to in paragraph 140IC(1)(b). This will allow the instrument to specify such things as the way in which the person may be paid and the types of deductions (if any) that may be allowed to be made from the person's salary.²

¹ NFF, Submission 2, p. 2.

² *EM*, Item 7.

1.7 Labor supports the stated intent of this new subsection, namely preventing
employers from making deductions from a 457 visa holder's salary, and thereby
undercutting the MSL. Unfortunately, this Bill will not prevent an employer from
undercutting the MSL by arranging for kickbacks from an employee's bank account.

Senator Patricia Crossin Deputy Chair

Senator Linda Kirk

Senator Joseph Ludwig

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

Numb	per Submittor
1	Department of Immigration and Citizenship
2	National Farmers' Federation
3	Association of Consulting Engineers Australia
4	Law Institute of Victoria Limited
5	Australian Industry Group
6	Clothier Anderson & Associates
7	Australian Contract Professions Management Association (ACPMA)

Submission

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

- 1. Answers to questions on notice received from Department of Immigration and Citizenship
- 2. Amended answer to question 5, Part D received from Department of Immigration and Citizenship